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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  )  
      ) 
   Plaintiff,   ) 
      )  No. 3:12-CR-107 
v.      )  
      )  (PHILLIPS/SHIRLEY) 
MICHAEL R. WALLI,   ) 
MEGAN RICE, and    ) 
GREG BOERTJE-OBED   ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
 

APPEAL OF MAGISTRATE’S REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION  
DENYING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

Now into Court come all defendants who ask the District Court to review and reverse the 

Magistrate’s Report and Recommendation denying the defendants’ motion to dismiss the charges 

against them for the reasons set forth below. 

The Magistrate’s report and recommendations are erroneous for the following reasons: 

first, he ruled on matters not even before him which had not been briefed or argued by any party; 

second, he wrongly applied civil standing doctrine to defendants’ criminal case; third, he 

mistakenly misinterpreted the war crimes statute; and fourth, he misunderstood and therefore 

misapplied the decision of the International Court of Justice.  For these reasons, the Report and 

Recommendation denying Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss this matter should not be followed and 

Defendants’ Motion should be granted.  

A. De Novo Review 

As a preliminary matter, under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 59(b), the district 

judge must consider any objections to a Magistrate’s Recommendation de novo.  See Fed. R. 

Crim. P. 59(b)(3). 
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B.  Magistrate’s Application of His Ruling to the Superseding Charges 

The Magistrate wrongfully decided matters never presented to him, never briefed to him 

by either side, nor argued before him by anyone.   

Throughout the Magistrate’s Report and Recommendation, he suggests that he is 

applying defendants’ arguments from their motion to dismiss the original charges in the original 

indictment to the new superseding charges of sabotage which were not even filed until after the 

motions were made, briefed, and argued.  See, for example, Report and Recommendation [Doc. 

63], page 2, note 2 (“The Court will apply the Defendants’ arguments to the new charges.”).  As 

such, in his conclusion, the Magistrate applies his ruling denying defendants’ motion to dismiss 

to the new superseding charges.  See Report and Recommendation [Doc. 63], p. 20 (“The Court 

has carefully considered the parties’ briefs and arguments . . . and finds no basis to dismiss the 

instant Superseding Indictment.”).  Defendants assert that, as set forth in detail below, this 

application of the Magistrate’s ruling to the new superseding charges without opportunity for 

defendants to specifically address the new charges in their Motion to Dismiss or at the Motions 

Hearing is premature and clearly violative of defendants’ due process rights. 

Defendants Michael Walli, Sister Megan Rice, and Greg Boertje-Obed, were originally 

charged by a Grand Jury on August 7, 2012 on three counts: (1) depredation against government 

property under 18 U.S.C. § 1361; (2) attempting to injure property in the special maritime and 

territorial jurisdiction of the United States under 18 U.S.C. § 1363; and (3) misdemeanor trespass 

under 42 U.S.C. § 2278a(c), 10 C.F.R. §§ 860.3 and 860.5(b).  See Indictment [Doc. 2].  On 

December 4, 2012, after defendants refused to plead guilty to the original charges, the 

prosecution recharged defendants with the additional, more serious crime of national defense 
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sabotage under 18 U.S.C. §§ 2155(a) and 2152.1  See Superseding Indictment [Doc. 55].  Note 

that this charge replaced the charge of misdemeanor trespass under 42 U.S.C. § 2278a(c), 10 

C.F.R. §§ 860.3 and 860.5(b) in the original indictment [Doc. 2].  The other two original charges 

remain.   

Defendants timely filed their Motion to Dismiss the original indictment on November 2, 

2012 [Doc. 44] and argued the motion to dismiss at the Motions Hearing before Magistrate 

Shirley on November 20, 2012.  Both of these events preceded the filing of the Superseding 

Indictment on December 4, 2012.  Defendants, therefore, did not have the opportunity to respond 

to the new charges filed against them in either their Motion to Dismiss or at the Motions 

Hearing.  

As such, the Magistrate’s application of his ruling to the new charges in the Superseding 

Indictment is on its face wrong and certainly premature.  After being charged with the 

superseding indictment, defendants were given the deadline of January 18, 2013 to file all 

motions regarding the new charges.  This deadline had not expired when the Magistrate issued 

his January 2, 2013 Report and Recommendation on defendants’ motion to dismiss.  His attempt 

to apply defendants’ arguments from their motion to dismiss the original charges to the new 

charges was clearly premature, and thus wrong.  This is especially true given the significant 

                                                        
1 Specifically, the new charge in the Superseding Indictment states: 

The Grand Jury charges that, on or about July 28, 2012, within the Eastern 
District of Tennessee, the defendants, MICHAEL R. WALLI, MEGAN RICE, 
and GREG BOERTJE- OBED, aiding and abetting each other, with the intent to 
injure, interfere with, and obstruct the national defense of the United States, did 
willfully injure, destroy, and contaminate, and attempt to injure, destroy and 
contaminate national-defense premises, specifically, buildings and grounds of the 
Y-12 National Security Complex, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 
Sections 2155(a), 2151 and 2.   

See Superseding Indictment, Count One [Doc. 55].  Conviction under § 2155(a) for damage to 
national security defense materials carries a prison sentence of up to twenty years.  A conviction 
under § 2152 carries an additional prison term of up to five years.  

Case 3:12-cr-00107   Document 70   Filed 01/16/13   Page 3 of 16   PageID #: 509



 4 

difference both in nature and severity between the charges in the first indictment of trespass and 

destruction of government property and the charge of national defense sabotage in the 

superseding indictment.        

The United States system of government and the constitutional guarantee of due process 

afford criminal defendants the opportunity to respond to and defend against any charges leveled 

by the government.  See Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 US 502, 533 (2004); Cleveland Bd. of Ed. v. 

Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542 (1985) (“An essential principle of due process is that a 

deprivation of life, liberty, or property ‘be preceded by notice and opportunity for hearing 

appropriate to the nature of the case’” (quoting Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 

339 U.S. 306, 313, (1950))).  Therefore, defendants must be given the opportunity to fully 

address the new charges, including the opportunity to move to dismiss them based on arguments 

the defendants themselves offer to the court, not what the court summarily supplies for them.  

Courts are charged with protecting the constitutional rights of the defendant and seeking justice.  

Neither such goals are accomplished when defendants are unable to address and fully defend 

against the charges they are accused of. 

C. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Can Properly Be Decided by the District Court 

 The Magistrate’s Report and Recommendation wrongfully concludes that pretrial 

dismissal of the charges against defendants is not an available remedy.  To support its position, 

the Magistrate’s ruling relies on United States v. Knox, 396 U.S. 77 (1969).  However, 

defendants assert that simply because the Court suggested in Knox that the defense at issue was 

one which could not be decided on a motion to dismiss the indictment, that decision is no bar at 

all to this Court granting these defendants’ motion to dismiss. 
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 A close reading of United States v. Knox reveals that the facts and the question at issue 

before the Court in that case significantly differ from the facts and issues here.  Furthermore, the 

Court in Knox did not set forth a bright-line rule categorically stating that no defenses 

promulgated by a defendant can ever be the basis for a pretrial motion to dismiss.  Instead, in 

support of his holding in the case before us, the Magistrate relies on a statement relegated to a 

footnote in the Knox Court’s opinion:  “Rule 12(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 

. . . indicates that evidentiary questions of this type should not be determined on such a motion.”  

Knox, 396 U.S. at 83, n.7.  Such an “indication,” even if true, does not even apply to defendants’ 

arguments in their Motion to Dismiss in this case. 

D.  Political Question and Standing 

In denying defendants’ motion to dismiss, the Magistrate’s Report and Recommendation 

held that defendants lacked standing to raise the issue of whether the United States’ possession, 

production, and policy regarding nuclear weapons violates international law because it is (1) a 

non-justiciable political question and (2) because individual citizens cannot litigate generalized 

grievances such as this.  Defendants assert that the Magistrate is mistaken on both counts. 

Importantly, the doctrines of standing and political question are requirements in civil 

cases, not criminal cases where the government is required to prove every element of the offense 

charged and every fact necessary to constitute the crime beyond a reasonable doubt, and 

defendants are entitled to a fair opportunity to defend themselves against such charges.   

Indeed the Magistrate used only civil cases to justify its recommendation that defendants 

lack standing.   

The Magistrate’s ruling insists that defendants have no standing to bring issues such as 

the criminality of nuclear weapons as if defendants were simply bringing a civil action.  Instead, 
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this case is much the opposite, as defendants are attempting to defend themselves from charges 

brought against them by invoking both U.S. and international law regarding the illegality of 

nuclear weapons.  The Magistrate’s finding that defendants do not have “standing” to raise 

evidence of the illegality of the property at issue in this case unconstitutionally relieves the 

prosecutor of its burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt each and every element of the 

offenses charged, as well as prevents defendants from raising an important issue in their own 

defense. 

The political question doctrine is often invoked by courts to avoid deciding a particular 

issue.  Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 210-11 (1962). The leading case on the political question 

doctrine is Baker v. Carr, in which the Supreme Court asserted that not all questions involving 

foreign policy are political questions: “It is error to suppose that every case or controversy which 

touches foreign relations lies beyond judicial cognizance.”  Id. at 211. 

By calling this issue a non-justiciable political question, the Court is improperly relieving 

itself of its responsibilities enumerated in the U.S. Constitution.  Article III, Section 2 of the U.S. 

Constitution provides: “The judicial power shall extend to all cases, in law and equity, arising 

under this Constitution, the Laws of the United States, and treaties made, or which shall be made, 

under their Authority; . . . to controversies to which the United States shall be a Party . . . .”    

Additionally, Article I, Section 8 provides that: “The Congress shall have the power . . . 

to define and punish Piracies and Felonies committed on the High Seas and Offenses against the 

Law of Nations.”  Congress has done this by enacting the war crimes statute, 18 U.S.C. § 2441, 

as well as by adoption of the Nuremberg Principles and the Genocide Convention.  These laws 

clearly make preparation, production, and refurbishment of specific warheads for the sole 

purposes of threatening or detonating specific uncontrollable and indiscriminate heat, blast, and 
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radiation a war crime and thus illegal under U.S. law.  Both military and civilian courts have 

jurisdiction over such war crimes.  As such, the judiciary has not only the right, but also the duty 

to adjudicate this issue and cannot seek to avoid it through invocation of the political question 

and standing doctrines.  

E.  Federal Law  

 The Magistrate’s report wrongfully recommends dismissal of the argument that the 

production, processing, and storage of nuclear weapons at Y-12 is illegal under U.S. and 

international law. 

Defendants start with the uncontested fact that one of the 100 kiloton warheads such as 

the W76-1 designed and constructed at Y-12 will produce heat, blast, and radiation seven times 

the amount that annihilated Hiroshima, August 6, 1945.   It is also an uncontested fact that Y-12 

produces, processes, and stores over 400 metric tons of enriched uranium, enough to provide for 

10,000 nuclear weapons. 

 Defendants state that these actions violate the war crimes act, 18 U.S.C. § 2441.  This 

position is supported by a fair reading of the uncontested facts advanced in defendants’ motion to 

dismiss as well as by the opinion of Professor Francis Boyle. 

 There are no cases which interpret the war crimes statute, 18 U.S.C. § 2441, either in 

favor of or in opposition to the argument of defendants.   The magistrate decided that since the 

nuclear weapons at Y-12 are not being used at this moment in time, the argument that they are 

illegal must fail.  That rationale, if adopted, means that no court can ever take any steps to 

prevent a war crime, but can only take action once a war crime has been committed.  

 Defendants argue that there is no peaceful use possible for nuclear weapons.  They are by 

definition weapons of mass destruction and that is their only possible use.  No use of these 
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weapons can ever discriminate between civilian and military targets.  Thus, producing them is a 

real step in the process of using them.  Clearly weapons of mass destruction cannot be used 

unless they are first produced, and that is what is happening at Y-12.   

The effect of the Magistrate’s recommendation completely avoids answering the 

following questions. 

Would the heat, blast, and radiation of one detonated W-76-1 warhead produced or 

refurbished at Y-12 for use on Trident II in any and all circumstances inflict unnecessary 

suffering on combatants and be inherently indiscriminate or incapable of distinguishing between 

military and civilian targets?  The answer is of course yes.  

Would the radioactive effects of any warhead produced or refurbished at Y-12 detonated 

on any target, military or civilian, inflict unnecessary civilian suffering, disproportionate civilian 

casualties, and disproportionate harmful effects to a neutral state? 2  Yes. 

Since the realities of the effects of each and every warhead produced at Y-12 are known 

and intended, defendants ask:  Is it unlawful “for purposes of war to induce cancers, keloid 

growths or leukemias in large numbers of the civilians among the enemy population . . . [or] to 

inflict congenital deformities and mental retardation on unborn children . . . [or] to poison the 

food supplies of the enemy population . . . Or any of the above on population of countries that 

have nothing to do with the conflict?”3  Still the answer is yes. 

                                                        
2 Cf. Experts including Francis Boyle who can elaborate for the court the accuracy of the 
objections to this court’s report and recommendation and the accuracy of the Defendants’ 
previous arguments include: Charles J. Moxley, Jr., Nuclear Weapons and International Law in 
the Post Cold War World,  Austin & Winfield, 2000; Rabinder Singh QC and Prof. Christine 
Chinkin, The Maintenance and Possible Replacement of the Trident Nuclear Missile System, 
Peacerights, Matrix Chambers Gray’s Inn, London, 2005.   
3 See Judge Christopher G. Weeramantry, Separate Opinion, ICJ Reports, 8 July 1996, Sec. 5 
“Dictates of the Public Conscience.” 
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Shockingly, despite the uncontested answers to these questions, the Magistrate wrongly 

decided that these weapons of mass destruction capable of ending life on earth as we know it to 

be the equivalent of a junkyard dog:  “The Court considers the situation to be analogous to the 

junkyard owner who posts a sign saying “mean dog” inside his junkyard. The purpose of the sign 

is not to threaten or commit violence. Instead, the junkyard owner posts the sign to deter acts on 

the part of others so that the dog will not have to bite.” (Doc. 63, Page 13).   

          The Magistrate wrongly ignores the reality that the warheads and Highly Enriched 

Uranium (HEU) at issue at Y-12 are specifically designed, produced and/or refurbished for 

specific threat or use by active deployment on particular missiles ready for instant, accidental or 

purposeful devastation.  The Magistrate wrongly and inaccurately narrows the activities ongoing 

at Y-12 as to make them seem benign when of course the warheads and the HEU are produced 

and [re]processed to deploy for threat or use with specific “effective” heat, blast and radiation. 

 Thus defendants’ conduct in symbolically disarming illegal weapons and pointing out the 

danger inherent in manufacturing and refurbishing them cannot be illegal.  

F. U.S. International Law 

 The Magistrate does acknowledge that international law is part of U.S. law.  See Report 

and Recommendation [Doc. 63], page 17. 

However, the Magistrate erroneously recommends: “this Court finds that the Defendants 

may be prosecuted for interference with national security and destruction of government property 

irrespective of whether the United States’ possession, manufacture, and policy regarding nuclear 

weapons violates international law.”  Report and Recommendation [Doc. 63], page 18.  Further, 

in the Report and Recommendation, the Magistrate refers to the decision of the International 

Court of Justice, but seriously misunderstands and therefore misapplies it. 
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           The nuclear weapons case decided by the International Court of Justice stated that the 

distinction between civilian and military targets was one of the cardinal principles of 

international humanitarian law and one of the “intransgressible principles of international 

customary law.” Section 179.  

Because the use of any of the warheads prepared, produced, or refurbished at Y-12 would 

violate the these fundamental rules and principles of humanitarian law, any threat, planning, 

preparation, or conspiracy to use them would also be unlawful. 

         Particular rules and principles of humanitarian law, also known as the Nuremberg 

principles or the laws of war, are not only intransgressible international law but also basic limits 

to the use of force long recognized as binding in and by the US.  In general, “the right of 

belligerents to adopt means of injuring the enemy is not unlimited.”  See Article 22, the 1907 

Hague Regulations relating to the laws and customs of war on land. 

Defendants specifically object to the Magistrate’s findings that the “production, 

processing, and storage of nuclear weapons at Y-12 does not constitute a war crime [(18 U.S.C. § 

2441)] [or]… violate international law as expressed by the International Court of Justice.” 

Defendants further object to the Magistrate’s holding that “The ICJ Opinion does not state that 

the threat of use of nuclear weapons or a policy of deterrence—much less the production, 

maintenance, or storage of nuclear weapons—violate international law” as categorically wrong. 

The Magistrate’s review of the ICJ Opinion wrongly relies on misinterpretation in U.S. v. 

Timothy Joseph Mellon, et al, No. 3:02-CR-47). 

Some background is in order. 
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 The International Court of Justice, the most authoritative Court in the world, gave its 

determination of existing legal rules and principles applicable to the threat or use of nuclear 

weapons (ICJ Reports, 8 July 1996, § 18).  

The ICJ did not consider every existing warhead type, nor every possible or intended use, 

but fairly applied to this case there are “sufficient elements to conclude with certainty that the 

use of [the particular] nuclear weapons [produced and refurbished at Y-12] would necessarily be 

at variance with the principles and rules of law applicable in armed conflict in any circumstance” 

(ICJ Reports, 8 July 1996, § 95).  

In other words, the ICJ did find and the U.S. agreed that the law of armed conflict has 

long applied to the threat or use of nuclear weapons.   

Defendants contend there is no question that all the warheads produced at Y-12 violate its 

rules and principles.    

The question presented here is specific to a particular situation and warheads.  Does HEU 

(highly enriched uranium) planning, preparation, or conspiracy to produce or refurbish specific 

nuclear warheads at Y-12 violate the intransgressible and fundamental rules and principles of 

humanitarian law since any threat or use of these warheads would ipso facto be uncontrollable 

and indiscriminate and constitute war crimes and crimes against humanity?   

Or to put it more directly, can any entity whether governmental, military or civilian in the 

U.S. lawfully contract to plan, prepare, or produce weapons designed for threat or commission of 

mass murder?   

In addition to rules and principles of humanitarian law, which are universally binding on 

the United States, these rules and principles are directly incorporated into the U.S. criminal code 
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as war crimes (18 U.S.C. § 2441) or genocide (18 U.S.C. § 1091-1093) and binding U.S. treaties 

that are “the supreme law of the land” (U.S. Const., Article VI, clause 2).  

The Magistrate sidesteps the fact there is no factual dispute that any threat or use of the 

nuclear warheads that are produced, prepared, and refurbished at Y-12 with the HEU property 

element of the crimes charged violates the rules and principles of humanitarian law.  These 

fundamental and intransgressible rules are strict conventional and customary rules of 

international law as well as common and statutory law of the U.S. and prohibit weapons like the 

ones produced at Y-12 which are designed and intended to violate those rules.   

While there is not yet a treaty providing specific steps for abolishing nuclear weapons, 

the lack of such a treaty does not authorize any use, threat, production, preparation of weapons 

which cannot be used within the laws of war.  The London Charter and the Nuremberg Tribunals 

made it clear that those rules and principles preempt contrary domestic law. A further review of 

this body of law is in order.  

Specifically, as concluded by the ICJ, the fundamental rules and principles of 

humanitarian law which prohibit the weapons produced at Y-12 include:  

a) "States must never make civilians the object of attack and must consequently never use 

weapons that are incapable of distinguishing between civilians and military targets" (ICJ Op., § 

78). A corollary is that it is prohibited to use weapons that cause uncontrollable effects [1977 

Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions, Art. 51(4)].  Use of Trident II system’s W-76 or W-76 1 

warheads prepared at Y-12 is unlawful per se because if targeted at military objects, the effects 

still are indiscriminate and uncontrollable.  

b) “It is prohibited to cause unnecessary suffering to prohibited to use weapons causing 

them such harm or uselessly aggravating their suffering" [ICJ Reports, § 78; 1907 Hague 
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Convention IV, Art. 23(e)]. 18 USC 2441 directly incorporates key provision as follows: (2) 

prohibited by Article 23, 25, 27, or 28 of the Annex to the Hague Convention IV, Respecting the 

Laws and Customs of War on Land, signed 18 October 1907.  

c) “In cases not covered by this Protocol or other international agreements, civilians and 

combatants remain under the protection and authority of the principles of international law 

derived from established custom, from the principles of humanity and from the dictates of the 

public conscience.” (International Court of Justice Advisory Opinion (ICJ Reports), “Legality of 

the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons,” 8 July 1996, General List No.95.) 

d) “These fundamental rules are to be observed by all States whether or they have ratified 

the Conventions that contain them, because they constitute intransgressible principles of 

international customary law” (ICJ Reports, 8 July 1996, § 79).   

e) “If an envisaged use of weapons would not meet the requirements of humanitarian law, 

a threat to engage in such use would also be contrary to that law” (ICJ Op., § 78). Since any use 

of any nuclear weapon including any of the Trident warheads produced at Y-12, would cause 

indiscriminate harm and unnecessary suffering, the threat of such use is unlawful, illegal and 

criminal. 

Defendants point out that the HEU used at Y-12, without question prepares, produces or 

refurbishes nuclear warhead components or secondaries with the specific intent to inflict vast and 

uncontrollable suffering, death and environmental devastation.  Since any or all of the 

detonations of any or all warheads produced or refurbished at Y-12 would ipso facto violate all 

these fundamental rules, the planning, preparation, conspiracy to threaten or use these warheads 
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also is unlawful that is both illegal and criminal as defined by the Nuremberg Charter and 

applied by the Nuremberg Tribunals.4 

Realization of the apocalyptic and unacceptable horrors of the long term human and 

environmental effects of nuclear detonations is difficult to face and has been dangerously slow in 

coming.  But this cannot and has not made nuclear weapons legal nor does it leave corporations 

and DOE/NNSA or Congress the right to continue indefinitely to make warheads whose sole 

purpose is threat or commission of uncontrollable mass destruction.  Existing law does not 

permit the DOE/ NNSA and contractors to continue to produce, refurbish warheads at Y-12 for 

specific threat or use when they know or should know those weapons can never be used within 

well accepted limits to the use of force.  

                                                        
4 Nuremberg Charter and applied by the Nuremberg Tribunals. 
 (Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1950, vol. II, para. 97. 
Principle VI 
The crimes hereinafter set out are punishable as crimes under international law: 
(a) Crimes against peace: 
(i) Planning, preparation, initiation or waging of a war of aggression or a war in violation 
of international treaties, agreements or assurances; 
(ii) Participation in a common plan or conspiracy for the accomplishment of any of the acts 
mentioned under (i). 
(b) War crimes: 
Violations of the laws or customs of war which include, but are not limited to, murder, 
illtreatment 
or deportation to slave-labour or for any other purpose of civilian population of or in 
occupied territory, murder or ill-treatment of prisoners of war, of persons on the seas, killing of 
hostages, plunder of public or private property, wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages, 
or devastation not justified by military necessity. 
(c) Crimes against humanity: 
Murder, extermination, enslavement, deportation and other inhuman acts done against any 
civilian population, or persecutions on political, racial or religious grounds, when such acts are 
done or such persecutions are carried on in execution of or in connection with any crime against 
peace or any war crime. 
Principle VII Complicity in the commission of a crime against peace, a war crime, or a crime 
against humanity as set forth in Principle VI is a crime under international law. 
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These genocidal or ecocidal violations of the laws of war that are occurring at Y-12 will 

and must as a matter of law trump prosecutors’ application of protection of property statutes 

against people like these Defendants in these circumstances. The court has misunderstood the 

decision of the International Court of Justice and should not be followed.  

G. Conclusion 

Defendants peaceably pointed out the most serious crimes ongoing at Y-12. Simply put 

the prosecutors are here going after the wrong people and solutions to problems raised by this 

case would be far better addressed by mediation or negotiation.   

The Magistrate’s report and recommendations are erroneous for the following reasons: 

first, he ruled on matters not even before him which had not been briefed or argued by any party; 

second, he wrongly applied civil standing doctrine to defendants’ criminal case; third, he 

mistakenly misinterpreted the war crimes statute; and fourth, he misunderstood and therefore 

misapplies the decision of the International Court of Justice.  For these reasons, the report and 

recommendation dismissing Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss this matter should not be followed 

and Defendants Motion should be granted.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s William P. Quigley   
William P. Quigley, admitted pro hac vice  
Loyola University New Orleans  
7214 St. Charles Avenue  
New Orleans, LA 70118  
Quigley77@gmail.com  
504.710.3074  
  
Chris Irwin  
BPR 025478  
POB 20363  
Knoxville, TN  
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Attorneys for Michael Walli  
 
/s Francis L. Lloyd, Jr.  
Law Office of Francis L. Lloyd, Jr.  
9111 Cross Park Drive  
Suite d-200  
865-470-4077  
865-978-6504 Fax  
FLLloydJr@gmail.com  
Counsel for Defendant Sr. Megan Rice  
  
Greg Boerte-Obed  
Pro Se  
  
  
 
Certificate of Service  
  
I certify that this document was served on all parties by filing it electronically on January 16,  
2013.    
 
    /s William P Quigley  
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